THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2012-CP-26-5610

Appellate Case No. 2013-000650

Shaul Levy and Meir LevyAppellants,

vs.

Carolinian,LLC.....Respondent.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

R. Wayne Byrd
Mark B. Goddard
Turner Padget Graham & Laney, P.A.
2311 N. Oak Street, Suite 301
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577
Telephone: (843) 213-5550

R. Hawthorne Barrett
Turner Padget Graham & Laney P.A.
P.O. Box 1473
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 254-2200

Attorneys for the Appellants

Carlyle Cromer
PO Box 2116
Myrtle Beach SC 29578

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the circuit court err in ruling that the April 2, 2012, foreclosure sale transferred Bhupendra Patel's interest in the Carolinian, LLC, to the Levys?
2. Did the circuit court err in ruling that the Carolinian, LLC, may exercise its "Right to Buy" under Section 11.2 of the Carolinian, LLC's Operating Agreement against the Levys as transferees of Patel's distributional interest?
3. Did the circuit court err in ruling that the Levys' rights, as nonmember transferees, would exceed the rights of the transferor, Patel, if the Levys were not subject to all sections of the Operating Agreement?
4. Did the circuit court err in ruling that Carolinian, LLC, may compel the purchase and sale of the Levys' distributional interest in Carolinian, LLC, without voiding the foreclosure sale of Bhupendra Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian, LLC, to the Levys?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a dispute between Appellants Shaul Levy and Meir Levy ("the Levys") and Respondent Carolinian, LLC, ("Carolinian") related to Carolinian's attempt to compel the purchase and sale of the Levys' distributional interest in Carolinian that they obtained from Bhupendra Patel ("Patel") following a judicial foreclosure sale. The Appellants filed their Summons and Verified Complaint on July 23, 2012. [R. pp. 20-52.] The Complaint alleged the following causes of action: (1) declaratory judgment, and (2) a temporary restraining order and temporary and permanent injunction. [R. pp. 21-28.]

Appellants' counsel signed a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Temporary Injunction and Rule to Show Cause on July 23, 2012. [R. pp. 53-55.] The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson signed an Order granting Appellants' Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Rule to Show Cause on July 27, 2012. [R. pp. 1-2.] The Honorable Larry B. Hyman signed an order on August 16, 2012, granting Appellants' motion for a temporary restraining order and injunction during the pendency of the case. [R. pp. 3-4.]

Carolinian filed a Summons, Answer and Counterclaim on August 17, 2012. [R. pp. 56-62.] The Answer and Counterclaim denied the Levys' claims and requested a declaratory judgment as to its rights. [R. pp. 57-62.] The Levys filed a Reply to Carolinian's Answer and Counterclaim denying Carolinian's claims on August 31, 2012. [R. pp. 63-65.]

The case was called for a non-jury trial on January 8, 2013, before the Honorable Steven H. John based on stipulated facts. [R. pp. 174-179.] Both parties submitted trial briefs in support of their respective positions. [R. pp. 147-173.] After considering arguments from counsel for both the Levys and Carolinian, Judge John took the matter under advisement. On January 23, 2013, Judge John issued an Order denying the Levys' claims and granting a declaratory judgment in Carolinian's favor. [R. pp. 5-15.]

On February 4, 2013, the Levys filed a Rule 59(e) motion. [R. pp. 66-78.] The motion essentially asked the judge to reconsider and reverse his previous decision. [R. pp. 66-78.] The Levys also filed a Rule 62(b) Motion. [R. pp. 79-81.] The motion requested that the circuit court stay proceedings to enforce the judgment granted in the Trial Order. [R. pp. 79-81.] On February 15, 2013, Carolinian filed a Memorandum in

Opposition to the Levys' Motion to Reconsider and Motion for Stay. [R. pp. 82-92.] The judge denied these motions by an order filed on February 22, 2013. [R. p. 16.] The Levys then commenced this appeal. [R. pp. 96-110].

On March 22, 2013, the Levys filed a Rule 62(c) motion. [R. pp. 93-95.] On April 5, 2013, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson filed a consent order granting that motion and restoring the Honorable Larry B. Hyman's Order Granting TRO and Injunction during the pendency of the appeal. [R. pp. 17-19.]

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the trial of this case, the parties submitted a Stipulation of Facts to the circuit court. Those stipulated facts and exhibits are set forth as follows:

1. Carolinian is the owner of certain real property located in Horry County, South Carolina. This real property consists of the Best Western Carolinian Resort, a 10-story high-rise oceanfront building that contains a total of 102 hotel units and certain commercial units located within the adjacent 129-unit, 20-story condominium tower. [R. p. 174].
2. Carolinian also holds the rental management rights over 112 managed condominium units. [R. p. 174.]
3. Carolinian is a closely-held company consisting of nine members. [R. pp. 174, 180.]
4. Patel is one of nine members of Carolinian. [R. p. 174.]
5. Shaul Levy and Meir Levy are residents of Florida and New York, respectively, who conduct business in Horry County, South Carolina and have extensive experience in real estate investment. [R. p. 174.]

6. The rights of the members of Carolinian are established in the Operating Agreement for Carolinian last revised on January 1, 2003 (“Operating Agreement”). [R. pp. 175, 181-214.]

7. Patel is the owner of a 23.35% Membership Share in Carolinian, which is defined in Section 2.1(r) of the Operating Agreement as “all of the rights of a member under this Agreement and under the Act, but not limited to a member’s Financial Rights and Voting Rights.” [R. pp. 175, 186.]

8. On February 10, 2010, the Levys caused a Confession of Judgment (the “Confession”) in the amount of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand and no/100 (\$2,500,000.00) Dollars to be filed in the Horry County public index against Bhupendra Patel, Arkadiusz Grabara, and Harry Pavilack. [R. pp. 175, 215-216].

9. As a result of the Levys’ collection efforts on the Confession, by Order dated August 12, 2011, in the case bearing Civil Action Number: 2010-CP-26-1161, the Horry County Master in Equity imposed charging liens against Patel’s distributional interests in four limited liability companies, including Carolinian (collectively the “Patel Distributional Interests”). [R. pp. 175, 217-220.]

10. Counsel for the Levys sent a certified letter dated August 30, 2011, to the Registered Agent for Carolinian giving it notice of the Order of the Horry County Master in Equity dated August 12, 2011, creating the charging lien against Patel’s distributional interest in Carolinian. [R. pp. 175, 217-220.]

11. The Levys filed a Petition to foreclose the aforementioned charging liens of Patel’s Distributional Interests on September 26, 2011 with the Horry County Master in Equity. [R. pp. 176, 222-223.]

12. On February 9, 2012, a hearing was held on the Levys' Petition to foreclose their charging liens. [R. p. 176.]

13. Prior to the hearing, Lloyd Daniel, on behalf of Carolinian, and Meir Levy on behalf of the Levys, together with their counsel, discussed the Levys' action against Patel. Lloyd Daniel expressed interest in the Carolinian acquiring the Levys' interest in Carolinian, and the parties agreed to discuss a potential business deal without counsel present. The parties did not reach an agreement. [R. p. 176.]

14. By Order dated March 14, 2012, the Horry County Master in Equity ordered the foreclosure and sale of Patel's Distributional Interests at public auction, with the proceeds thereof being applied against the amounts due the Levys on the Confession. [R. pp. 176, 224-227.]

15. Prior to the foreclosure sale, the Levys, by and through their counsel, were provided a copy of the Operating Agreement for Carolinian by counsel for Patel and/or counsel for Carolinian, and financial information of Carolinian, including tax returns of 2007-2011, balance sheets and income statements for 2008-2011, and an appraisal of April 4, 2011 from counsel for Carolinian. [R. p. 176.]

16. Each of Patel's Distributional Interests were sold separately at the public auction held April 2, 2012, with the Levys being the high bidder on each of the four Patel Distributional Interests, including Patel's distributional interests in Carolinian, which was purchased at the winning bid of \$215,000. [R. p. 177].

17. Carolinian's legal counsel attended the public auction and bid \$190,000 on behalf of Carolinian and/or Southwestern Equities, LLC, a member of Carolinian, for Patel's distributional interest in the company. [R. p. 177.]

18. Neither Patel nor the Levys requested or were given permission by Carolinian or its members to transfer Patel's distributional interest to the Levys prior to the foreclosure hearing or subsequent sale. [R. p. 177.]

19. By Order dated April 10, 2012, the Horry County Master in Equity confirmed the sale of Patel's Distributional Interests to the Levys. [R. pp. 177, 228-231.]

20. Pursuant to the Order Confirming Sale, the proceeds of the \$215,000 high bid for Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian at the foreclosure sale were applied towards the satisfaction of the Levys' Judgment. [R. p. 177.]

21. At no time after receiving notice of the charging lien and prior to the foreclosure sale did Carolinian redeem Patel's distributional interest per the terms of the Operating Agreement. At no time after the foreclosure sale, but prior to being served with the Order Confirming Sale, did Carolinian redeem Patel's distributional interest pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement. [R. p. 177].

22. By letter dated April 16, 2012, a copy of the Order Confirming Sale was served on Carolinian through its registered agent, Lloyd Daniel, requesting "that any and all distributions to be made by the Company be properly allocated and distributed to my clients." [R. pp. 177-178, 232].

23. By letter dated June 11, 2012, counsel for Carolinian responded to the letter dated April 16, 2012, and asserted that Carolinian was exercising its right to purchase the Levys' Distributional Interest in Carolinian pursuant to its Operating Agreement. The letter set forth Carolinian's calculation of the purchase price pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement and an offer to purchase the distributional interest for \$100,000. [R. pp. 178, 233-234.]

24. By letter dated June 18, 2012, through counsel, the Levys denied that Carolinian had the right to purchase the distributional interest from the Levys, stating “[t]he Levys’ are not subject to any of the terms of the Operating Agreement.” [R. pp. 178, 235-236.]

25. By letter dated June 27, 2012, counsel for Carolinian asserted that the Levys were subject to the terms of the Carolinian’s Operating Agreement and that the company was obtaining an appraisal and purchasing the Patel Distributional Interest held by the Levys pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement. [R. pp. 178, 237-238.]

26. On July 23, 2012, the Levys commenced this action. [R. p. 178.]

27. By letter dated September 6, 2012, Carolinian, through counsel, served a letter upon Levys’ counsel enclosing an appraisal of the distributional interest in Carolinian and assigning a value thereto of \$51,000.00. [R. pp. 178-179, 239-347.]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court. *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.Ed.2d 716, 718-19 (2000). In such situations, the appellate court is free to decide the question based on its assessment of which interpretation and reasoning would best comport with the law and the Court’s sense of justice. *Croft v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 365 S.C. 402, 408, 618 S.E.2d 909, 912 (2005). Since this case involves a novel legal question, the Court essentially has *de novo* review of the lower court’s decision.

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court erred in ruling that the April 2, 2012, foreclosure sale transferred Bhupendra Patel's interest in the Carolinian, LLC to the Levys.

In the Trial Order, the circuit court judge ruled that the April 2, 2012, foreclosure sale transferred Patel's interest in the Carolinian to the Levys. [R. p. 11.] The Operating Agreement defines a "Membership Share" to be "all of the rights of a Member under this Agreement and under the Act, including, but not limited to, a Member's Financial Rights¹ and Voting Rights." [R. p. 186.] The April 10, 2012, Order signed by the Horry County Master in Equity, indicates that only Patel's distributional interest in the Carolinian was transferred and conveyed to the Levys. [R. pp. 224-227.] Therefore, the Levys only purchased Patel's distributional interest, not Patel's voting rights. Patel retained his voting rights in Carolinian, which meant the foreclosure sale did not transfer all of Patel's interest in the Carolinian to the Levys. Therefore, this Court should reverse the circuit court's ruling and conclude that the April 2, 2012, foreclosure sale only transferred Patel's financial rights or distributional interest in Carolinian to the Levys and that Patel retained his voting rights.

II.

The circuit court erred in ruling that the Carolinian, LLC, may exercise its "Right to Buy" under Section 11.2 of the Carolinian, LLC's Operating Agreement against the Levys as transferees of Patel's Distributional Interest.

In the Trial Order, the circuit court correctly held that the "Right to Buy" in Section 11.2 of the Operating Agreement is not a redemption under S.C. Code Ann. § 33-

¹ Per the Operating Agreement, "Financial Rights" have the same meanings as "Distributional Interest." [R. p. 186.]

34-504, but a separate right created by the Operating Agreement. [R. p. 13.] However, the circuit court incorrectly applied the “Right to Buy” under Section 11.2 to the Levys as transferees of a Member’s “Financial Rights.” The circuit court’s Trial Order specifically found that the Operating Agreement is clear and unambiguous. [R. p. 12.] “When a contract is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used.” *Hardee v. Hardee*, 355 S.C. 382, 387, 585 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2003) (citing *B.L.G. Enterprises, Inc. v. First Financial Ins. Co.*, 334 S.C 529, 514 S.E.2d 327 (1999)). “The judicial function of a court of law is to enforce a contract as made by the parties, and not to rewrite or to distort, under the guise of judicial construction, contracts, the terms of which are plain and unambiguous.” *Id.* (citing *S.S. Newell & Co. v. American Mut. Liab. Ins. Co.*, 199 S.C. 325, 19 S.E.2d 463 (1942)). “When a contract is unambiguous a court must construe its provisions according to the terms that the parties used; understood in their plain, ordinary, and popular sense.” *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003). Despite the circuit court’s finding that the Operating Agreement is clear and unambiguous, the circuit court’s ruling is inconsistent and misapplies the terms of the Operating Agreement and applicable state law.

(A) The Levys are not “Members” under the express terms of the Operating Agreement

Section 11.2 of the Operating Agreement discusses the Carolinian’s right to purchase the membership share of a member who attempts to transfer his membership share without the consent of the other Members of Carolinian, LLC. Section 11.2(b) states:

...if a Member attempts to transfer all or a portion of his Membership Share without obtaining the other Members’ consent as required in

SECTION 11.1 . . . such **MEMBER** is deemed to have offered to the Company all of his Membership Share at the price determined in accordance with SECTION 11.2(a), SECTION 11.3 and upon the terms contained in SECTION 11.4.

[R. p. 206.] (emphasis added). Section 11.3 of the Operating Agreement discusses the Purchase Price for the membership share. It states:

...the price to be paid for a Withdrawn or Withdrawing Member's Membership Share shall be the purchase price agreed upon by the **Withdrawn or Withdrawing Member** and the Company Appraised value shall mean the value obtained . . . by agreement of two (2) appraisers, one appointed by the Company . . . and one appointed by the **Withdrawing or Withdrawn Member**.

[R. pp. 206-207.] (emphasis added). Sections 11.2(b) and 11.3 of the Operating Agreement discuss Carolinian, LLC's right to purchase from the *withdrawing member*, but these sections are silent as to the right to purchase from a transferee. [R. pp. 206-207.]

The Operating Agreement defines a "Member" as "the parties to this Agreement from time to time. For purposes of ARTICLES IX, X and XI, the term 'Member' includes any Member who has withdrawn or dissociated from the Company." [R. p. 186.] The Levys, as transferees, do not fall within the definition of a member in the Operating Agreement. Therefore, Sections 11.2 and 11.3 of the Operating Agreement are silent as to Carolinian's right to purchase the membership share from non-members, who hold a distributional interest legally acquired pursuant to a court order.

Despite the clear and unambiguous nature of the Operating Agreement, the circuit court extended the "Right to Buy" under Section 11.2 outside of the defined term "Member" to the Levys as non-member transferees.

(B) Patel did not attempt to transfer the distributional interest

In the Trial Order, the circuit court holds that the April 2, 2012, judicial sale constituted a “transfer falling under the category of ‘all other transfers’ pursuant to Section 11.1 ‘Restrictions on Transfers’ of the Operating Agreement.” [R. p. 13.] The circuit court then makes the quantum leap to the conclusion that because Section 11.1 applies, the provisions of 11.2(b) control. [R. p. 13.]

Section 11.2(b) of the Operating Agreement is only applicable if a **Member** attempts “to transfer all or a portion of his Membership Share without obtaining the other Members’ consent as required in SECTION 11.1, a member wrongfully dissociates under Section 11.2(a), or if a member properly dissociates . . . [under] Article X.” [R. p. 206.] Patel never attempted a “conveyance or encumbrance of all or a portion of a membership share” as described in the last sentence of Section 11.1, upon which the circuit court relied. It is undisputed that the transfer of Patel’s distributional interest occurred at a foreclosure sale on April 2, 2012, and the distributional interest was conveyed by Order of the Horry County Master in Equity. The Master in Equity was the transferor, not Patel. It is also undisputed that Patel neither wrongfully dissociated nor properly dissociated under the terms of Section 11.2(a) or Article X. Since the Master in Equity, not Patel, was the transferor of his distributional interest, and since Patel did not wrongfully dissociate or properly dissociate, the circuit court again erred in not construing the Operating Agreement as written.

Section 11.2(b) of the Operating Agreement discusses the Carolinian’s right to purchase a Member’s Membership Share if the Member *attempts* to transfer all or a portion of his Membership Share without obtaining the consent of 67% of the Voting

Rights of the Company. [R. p. 206.] Paragraph 1(d) of the Conclusions of Law section of the Trial Order specifically concluded that the April 2, 2012, sale of the distributional interest to the Levys was proper. [R. p. 11.] Paragraph 2 of the Order concluded that the April 2, 2012 sale resulted in a transfer of Patel's distributional interest. [R. p. 11.] At that point, the sale was finalized, and there was no longer an *attempted* sale, but rather a *completed* sale. Since the circuit court found that the Carolinian was not attempting to challenge the foreclosure sale, then under the plain language of Section 11.2, the sale was a *completed* sale rather than *attempted* as is described in the Operating Agreement. Again, the circuit court erred in not construing the Operating Agreement according to the express, plain, and unambiguous terms used in their ordinary and popular sense.

Therefore, this Court should reverse the result below and find that the "Right to Buy" under Section 11.2 of the Operating Agreement is not applicable to the Levys as transferees of a distributional interest from an otherwise valid judicial sale pursuant to the Operating Agreement's clear and unambiguous language.

III.

The circuit court erred in ruling that the Levys' rights, as nonmember transferees, would exceed the rights of the transferor, Patel, if the Levys were not subject to all sections of the Operating Agreement.

In the Trial Order, the circuit court held that the Levys, as non-member transferees of Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian, are subject to and governed by the Operating Agreement, and their rights cannot, through contract law or statute, exceed the transferor's rights. [R. p. 12.] As previously discussed, Patel was not a transferor of his interest. Instead, the Horry County Master in Equity was the transferor of Patel's

distributional interest. However, even if this Court rules Patel was the transferor, the Levys' rights as transferees do not exceed the rights of Carolinian's members.

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