RECEIVED

SEP 27 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No: 2012-CP-26-5610

**Appellate Case No. 2013-000650**

---

Shaul Levy and Meir Levy, ..... Appellants.

Carolinian, LLC, ..... Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Benjamin A. Barody  
Bellamy, Rutenberg, Copeland,  
Epps, Gravely & Bowers, P.A.  
Post Office Box 357  
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina 29578  
(843) 448-2400  
[bbarody@bellamylaw.com](mailto:bbarody@bellamylaw.com)

Attorneys for the Respondent

**

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Levys are sophisticated real estate investors who obtained a \$2,500,000.00 judgment against three separate individuals. The Levys obtained charging liens against Patel’s distributional interests in four separate LLCs, thus providing the Levys with sufficient security to obtain distributions out of each LLCs to apply toward the satisfaction of their judgment. The Levys did not have to foreclose those liens.

The Levys were in possession of the Carolinian Operating Agreement prior to deciding to foreclose their charging liens against the four Patel distribution interests and prior to bidding on those interests. The Operating Agreement applies one set of rules to the transfer of a member’s interest to a third party after obtaining the consent of a majority of Carolinian’s membership, and applies another set of rules to the transfer of a member’s interest to a third party in the event the member does not first obtain the consent of Carolinian’s membership. If the former, neither the company nor any of its members have the right to buy the interest so transferred. If the latter, both the company and the members are given the opportunity to buy the interest back. This case involves the latter scenario, and the circuit court properly construed the Operating Agreement to give Carolinian the

opportunity to buy the distributional interest that Patel transferred to the Levys without the requisite consent.

Neither the Operating Agreement nor the South Carolina Limited Liability Company Act mandates that Carolinian redeem a charging lien against one of its members' distributional interests prior to the foreclosure sale. Moreover, neither the Operating Agreement nor the Act provides that the sale of the member's distributional interest at a foreclosure sale voids the very Operating Agreement that created the interest. When the Levys elected to foreclose its charging lien against Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian without the consent of sixty-seven percent (67%) of Carolinian's members, they assumed the risk that Carolinian or its other members would elect to exercise its Right to Buy the interest back for its fair value to be determined pursuant to Section 11 of the Operating Agreement.

By contrast, the Levys' position necessarily seeks a declaration that the Carolinian Operating Agreement does not apply to the transfer, to the distributional interest they acquired, or to them as Patel's transferees and successors in interest. Such a position would be contradictory to the basic, clear intent of the members of Carolinian when they agreed to adopt the Carolinian Operating Agreement to govern themselves.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court properly ruled that Carolinian could exercise its Right to Buy Patel's distributional interest from the Levys as Patel's transferee/ successor in interest.**
  - A. An Operating Agreement may lawfully restrict the rights of transferees of a member's distributional interest.**

The South Carolina General Assembly enacted the South Carolina Uniform Limited Liability Act in 1996. “The act is intended to be flexible with a comprehensive set of default rules.... The act is flexible in the sense that the vast majority of its provisions **may be modified by the owners in a private agreement**. To simplify, those nonwaivable provisions are set forth in a single subsection. Thus, **sophisticated parties will negotiate their own deal.**” 1996 South Carolina Act No. 343, Section 1 (emphasis added). All provisions within an Operating Agreement subject to South Carolina law are permissible so long as they do not run afoul of the seven mandatory, non-waivable rules set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-103(b). An Operating Agreement in South Carolina may restrict the rights of both a member of an LLC and a transferee of a distributional interest of a member. See S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-103(b)(7) (“The operating agreement may not restrict rights of a person, **other than a manager, member, and transferee of a member’s distributional interest...**”)(emphasis added).

**B. The Carolinian Operating Agreement applies to both members and non-member transferees.**

The Agreement provides that the company “shall exist under and be governed by the provisions of the South Carolina Uniform Limited Liability Company Act of 1996, Sections 33-44-101, et. seq... except as otherwise provided or modified by this Agreement.” (R. p. 180). Upon their purchase of Patel’s distributional interest at the foreclosure sale, the Levys became transferees who were subject to the Operating Agreement of Carolinian, LLC. See S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-504(b) (“... A purchaser at the foreclosure sale has the rights of a **transferee.**”)(emphasis added).

The Operating Agreement, itself, is binding upon not only the members of Carolinian, LLC, but also any successor to any member's interest so transferred. See Operating Agreement, paragraph 12.12 "Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon, ... and **shall be enforceable ... against all the parties and their respective ... successors and permitted assigns.**" (R. pp. 181-214) emphasis added). A "successor" is defined as "[a] person who succeeds to the office, rights, responsibilities or place of another; one who replaces or follows another." Black's Law Dictionary, Seventh Edition, p. 1446 (1999). The Levys are the successor owners of Patel's distributional interest, an interest created by and subject to the Carolinian Operating Agreement.

**C. Carolinian may exercise its Right to Buy Patel's distributional interest from the Levys as Patel's successors in interest.**

The Levys have succeeded to the ownership of Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian, LLC. Since that interest is subject to the Carolinian Operating Agreement, and since the Operating Agreement is enforceable against the successors to a member's distributional interest, Carolinian may buy Patel's distributional interest from the Levys.

**II. The Circuit Court properly ruled that Patel's distributional interest, and not his entire membership interest, was transferred at the foreclosure sale.**

The Circuit Court never ruled that Patel's entire membership interest- both his distributional interest and voting interest-was transferred at the foreclosure sale to the Levys. Carolinian agrees that Patel transferred only his distributional interest in Carolinian at the foreclosure sale, and the Circuit Court's Order reflects the same. The Circuit Court refers to Patel's "distributional interest" as having been transferred to the Levys throughout its

Order. The Order makes only two references to Patel's "interest" as having been transferred at the sale, and both refer to Patel's distributional interest.

First, in paragraph 2 of the Order, the Circuit Court finds, "[t]he April 2, 2012 sale resulted in a transfer of Patel's interest in Carolinian to the Levys." Footnote 4 clarifies that, [p]ursuant to the Order of Judge Howe entered April 10, 2012, the Patel Distributional Interests 'have now been transferred and conveyed to the Plaintiffs.'" Therefore, the reference to "interest" was a reference to Patel's "distributional interest" and not to Patel's entire membership interest.

Second, in paragraph 5 of the Order, the Circuit Court finds, "[t]he transfer of Patel's interest in Carolinian to the Levys was governed by and subject to the Operating Agreement of Carolinian." The preceding paragraph to which this paragraph refers clarifies, "...the Levys became owners of the distributional interest in Carolinian subject to the Carolinian Operating Agreement." Again, this reference to "interest" was a reference to Patel's "distributional interest" and not to Patel's entire membership interest.

Therefore, while the Circuit Court could have added the words "distributional" before the word "interest" in these two paragraphs, doing so would be unnecessary since the Court was referring to the "distributional interest" and not to both Patel's distributional interest and voting interest in Carolinian.

**III. The Circuit Court properly ruled that the Levys' distributional interest was equal to their transferor's distributional interest and subject to the Carolinian Operating Agreement.**

The Circuit Court never ruled that the distributional interest purchased by the Levys at the foreclosure sale was greater than or exceeded the distributional interest that Patel had.

Rather, the Circuit Court merely recited in its Order that, [a]s a transferee of Patel's distributional interest in Carolinian **subject to and governed by the Operating Agreement of Carolinian's members**, Plaintiffs cannot, through contract law or statute, have greater rights than the transferor ... had at the time of the transfer." (R. p. 10) (emphasis added). This finding was a mere rebuke of the Levys' contention that they "are not subject to any of the terms of the [Carolinian] Operating Agreement." (R. pp. 235-236). The Circuit Court intended to make a clear finding that the Levys, as transferees of Patel's distributional interest, were subject to the Carolinian Operating Agreement. As is set forth in more detail herein, the Carolinian Operating Agreement "shall be binding upon ...and shall be enforceable by and against all the parties ... and their successors and permitted assigns." (R. pp. 181-214).

**IV. The Circuit Court properly ruled that allowing Carolinian to exercise its Right to Buy does not operate to void or otherwise contravene the foreclosure sale of Patel's distributional interest.**

**A. Article XI of the Operating Agreement provides that a non-consensual transfer of a distributional interest triggers Carolinian's or its Members' Right to Buy.**

Because neither Patel nor the Levys obtained the consent of sixty-seven percent (67%) of Carolinian's members to the transfer and conveyance of Patel's interest to the Levys prior to the foreclosure sale, Article XI, and not Article III, of the Operating Agreement applies to the transfer, conferring upon Carolinian and its members the right to buy the distributional interest back. Such a non-consensual transfer triggered Carolinian's Right to Buy the interest from the Levys. Section 11.1 of the Agreement, "Restrictions on Transfer," provides:

**No Member may voluntarily or involuntarily ... transfer, ... or otherwise convey ... any portion or all of his Membership Share to any Person without the prior written consent of those Members who own more than sixty-seven (67%) percent of the Voting Rights in the Company....**

**If such consent is obtained, no provision of this ARTICLE XI shall apply, and the provisions of ARTICLE III shall govern the rights of the transferor and transferee. With regard to all other transfers, ARTICLE XI shall control, and any attempted conveyance or encumbrance of all or a portion of a Membership Share in contravention of this ARTICLE XI shall be null, void, and without effect.**

Contrary to the construction promoted by the Levys, Section 11.1 does not purport to void any non-consensual transfer of a distributional interest. Rather, it purports to void any non-consensual transfer wherein Carolinian or its members are prohibited from exercising their Right to Buy the transferred interest back pursuant to Sections 11.2 and 11.3. Nothing in the Master's Order of Foreclosure or the Master's Order Confirming Sale restricts Carolinian or any of its Members from exercising their Right to Buy or any other rights they maintain pursuant to the Carolinian Operating Agreement. As set forth in the Circuit Court's Order, Carolinian is not attempting to void or set aside the foreclosure sale; it is merely trying to exercise its Right to Buy pursuant to Article XI of the Operating Agreement.

**B. The Carolinian Operating Agreement unambiguously reveals an intent expressed by its members to prohibit a member's transfer of his distributional interest to another without either obtaining the consent of sixty-seven percent (67%) of its Members or, alternatively, allowing the Company or its members the right to buy it back.**

The Carolinian Operating Agreement, read as a whole, clearly manifests an intention by its members to prohibit the transfer of any or all of a member's interest in the company to a third-party without either a) the consent of sixty-seven percent (67%) of its members or, if no such consent is either attempted or obtained- as is the case here- b) a right to buy it

back. While a hypertechnical reading of the Operating Agreement by the Levys may create confusion, it is taken out of context and manifests the opposite intent of the parties. To construe the Operating Agreement of Carolinian as sought by the Levys would be to contravene Sections 11.1 "Restrictions on Transfer," 11.2(b) "Company and Members Right to Buy," and 11.3 "Purchase Price" altogether.

"The operating agreement of [an LLC] is a binding contract that governs the relations among the members, managers, and the company." Clary v. Borrell, 398 S.C. 287, 297, 727, S.E.2d 773, 778 (Ct. App. 2012). "Generally, operating agreements are superior to statutory authority where they are in place and address a matter, inasmuch as it is only when an operating agreement is silent as to some matter that statutory law will apply." Clary, 398 S.C. at 297, 727 S.E.2d at 778.

"Contracts should be liberally construed so as to give them effect and carry out the intention of the parties." Cullen v. McNeal, 390 S.C. 470, 483, 702 S.E.2d 378, 385 (Ct. App. 2010). "The parties' intention must be gathered from the contents of the entire agreement and not from any particular clause thereof." Id. "Interpretation of a contract is governed by the objective manifestation of the parties' assent at the time the contract was made, rather than the subjective, after-the-fact meaning one party assigns to it." Laser Supply and Services, Inc. v. Orchard Park Associates, 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-144 (Ct. App. 2009).

As is set forth above in detail, Section 11.1, "Restrictions on Transfer," is intended to prohibit transfers of distributional interests without either the prior consent of a majority of the members or, if no consent is obtained, giving the company or its members the right to

buy the interest so transferred. Section 11.2, “Right to Buy,” is intended to set forth the basis for purchase price to be paid by the Company or Member to the Member or Member’s transferee (11.2(b) “Company and Members Right to Buy” provides, “[i]f a Member attempts to transfer all or a portion of his Membership Share without obtaining the other Members’ consent as required in SECTION 11.1, ... such Member is deemed to have offered to the Company all of his Membership Share at the price determined in accordance with SECTION 11.2(a), SECTION 11.3 and upon the terms contained in SECTION 11.4.”). Section 11.3, “Purchase Price,” provides the formula to calculate the purchase price, including conflict resolution in the event the parties cannot agree upon a price, and Section 11.4, “Payment of Purchase Price,” provides the method and timing of the payment once the price is determined.

The Operating Agreement is “binding upon ... and enforceable ... against” both Members and their “successors.” (R. pp. 181-214). As Patel’s successors in interest, the provisions of Article XI are binding upon and enforceable against the Levys. The Circuit Court correctly construed the Operating Agreement liberally to give meaning to the unambiguous intent of the members of Carolinian, LLC to give their company or themselves the ability to buy back the distributional interest, leaving for a later day the amount of consideration to be paid.

**C. Article XI’s Restriction on Transfer and Right to Buy provisions reflect the Act’s own restriction on transfer and right to buy provisions.**

Pursuant to the South Carolina Limited Liability Company Act, a member of an LLC is declared to be dissociated from the company “upon transfer of all of a member’s

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